
AGENDA FOR

HUMAN RESOURCES AND APPEALS PANEL

Contact: Julie Gallagher
Direct Line: 0161 253 5133
E-mail: julie.gallagher@bury.gov.uk
Web Site: www.bury.gov.uk

To: All Members of Human Resources and Appeals Panel

Councillors: J Daly, T Holt, T Pickstone, R Shori and 
T Tariq

Dear Member/Colleague

Human Resources and Appeals Panel

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Human Resources and 
Appeals Panel which will be held as follows:-

Date: Wednesday, 24 April 2019

Place: Joint Learning Hub, Town Hall, Knowsley Street, Bury, 
BL9 0SW

Time: 10.00 am

Briefing

Facilities:

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the 
related report should be contacted.

Notes:



AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES OF ABSENCE  

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members of Human Resources Committee are asked to consider whether 
they have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda, and, if so, to 
formally declare that interest.

3  DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE FOR HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, S151 
OFFICER AND MONITORING OFFICER  (Pages 1 - 10)

A report from the Assistant Director Human Resources and Organisational 
Development is attached.

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  

To consider passing the appropriate resolution under Section 100(A)(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 that the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of the following items of business 
since they involve the likely disclosure of the exempt information stated.

5  SENIOR MANAGEMENT CAPACITY REPORT  (Pages 11 - 64)

A report from Councillor Rishi Shori, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Judith Kelly, Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs & HR is 
attached.



1

DECISION OF: HR & APPEALS PANEL

DATE: 24 April 2019

SUBJECT: Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid Service, 
S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer

REPORT FROM: Tracy Murphy, Assistant Director HR/OD

CONTACT OFFICER: Caroline Schofield, Head of Corporate HR Services

SUMMARY:
This report details the changes made by the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015 relating to the potential dismissal of the 
Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer 
which have been incorporated into the Council’s 
Constitution; and the procedures required to enable 
implementation in line with the model procedure laid 
down in the JNC for Chief Executive’s Conditions of 
Service Handbook.
 

OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION

Recommendations appear at the end of this report. 

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework:

The proposals accord with the policy 
framework 

Statement by the S151 Officer:
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations:

There are no significant financial implications 
for the Council arising from the Constitutional 
changes proposed in this report. 

Equality/Diversity implications: None.

Considered by Monitoring Officer: There are important regulatory functions to 
protect the Council’s ability to
discharge its functions effectively and 
lawfully, to prevent the politicisation of 
employees and to safeguard against the 

Agenda
Item

REPORT FOR DECISION

Document Pack Page 1 Agenda Item 3



2

inappropriate or illegal use of public 
resources. Exercising these functions could 
bring the statutory officers into conflict with 
the political leadership of the Council. In 
consideration of this context it is proposed 
that the Council adopts a procedure as 
provided for in The Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015.

Wards Affected: All

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015 made changes to matters relating to the dismissal of three 
statutory officers (Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer). This provision is to ensure that these officers can discharge their 
duties without fear of being unduly influenced or being dismissed without 
good reason and provides a degree of protection against unwarranted 
political interference in their roles.

1.2 This report seeks agreement of a formal procedure to implement the 
regulations and provide clear guidance, to the officers concerned and the 
Council in terms of the process it must follow.

2. Background

2.1 Reports were taken to Human Resources and Appeals Panel and Council in 
June and July 2015 on the amendment to the standing orders and the 
requirement to amend the Employment Procedure Rules in the Council 
Constitution.

2.2 The Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer carry specific 
statutory responsibilities and councils are required to follow specific 
procedures when investigating and dealing with disciplinary matters for 
these officers.

2.3 The Chief Executive’s Conditions of Service Handbook was updated 13th 
October 2016 to reflect these changes.

2.4 The Chief Officer Conditions of Service Handbook was updated 8th August 
2017 referring disciplinary matters for the S151 officer and Monitoring 
Officer to the JNC for Chief Executive’s handbook.

3. Amendments/Implications 

3.1 The requirement to appoint a Designated Independent Person (DIP) and act 
in accordance with their recommendation has been replace by the 
requirement to form an Independent Panel of a minimum of two 

Document Pack Page 2



3

independent people appointed under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 
(relating to standards complaints against members). 

3.2 The advice, views and recommendations of the Independent Panel will need 
to be considered before any decision is made by the Council to dismiss.

3.3 The Independent Panel must be appointed at least 20 days before the 
Council meeting to consider dismissal.

3.4 Should the appointed independent persons refuse to sit on such a panel, 
the Council must appoint independent persons from other local authorities.

3.5 An Investigating and Disciplinary Committee (IDC) will be formed to deal 
with any disciplinary matters relating to the three officers. Part of their 
responsibility will be to consider whether or not it is appropriate to suspend 
an officer. However, in accordance with the recommendations in the Chief 
Executive’s handbook and the Council delegation arrangements, it is 
proposed that, should suspension need to take place before the meeting of 
the IDC, this is done by the Assistant Director HR/OD in conjunction with 
the Leader.

3.6 The model procedure has been brought together into a clear Disciplinary 
Procedure for the Council to follow when dealing with disciplinary matters 
relating to the Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer.

4.0 Resource Implications

4.1 None.
 
5.0 Recommendations/Next Steps

5.1 That the draft Disciplinary Procedure and flow chart be approved 
retrospectively on the basis that is it already laid down in the model 
procedure.

5.2 That the draft procedure and flow chart be shared with the trade unions 
and issued to the relevant officers as part of their contract of employment.

Document Pack Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer

Background

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as 
amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015) provide a degree of protection for chief executives and certain 
statutory chief officers (section 151 and monitoring officers) against 
unwarranted political interference in their roles as Head of Paid Service, Section 
151 Officer and Monitoring Officer.
These changes have been incorporated into the Council Constitution and new 
procedures are required to be formalised.

Scope

This procedure sits alongside the Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance as 
outlined in the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Chief Executives National 
Salary Framework and Conditions of Service Handbook (updated 13th October 
2016) and will be used to manage the disciplinary process for the Head of Paid 
Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

Should any cases involving allegations against any of these three officers also 
implicate other officers and there is one investigation, this higher level procedure 
will be used for all officers under investigation.  

Where the procedure refers to a Hearing, the process will follow the Council’s 
Hearing Procedure. 

Democratic Services, in conjunction with HR, will be responsible for arranging all 
meetings/Hearings.

Right to be accompanied

The JNC procedure provides that at all stages, officers have the right to be 
accompanied by a trade union representative or some other person of their 
choice at their own cost. The only exception being, if an emergency suspension 
needs to take place where there is a serious risk identified.

The disciplinary procedure cannot be delayed, however, due to the unavailability 
of representative although every effort will be made to arrange dates that are 
mutually convenient.

The statutory right to be accompanied applies in disciplinary hearings where 
decisions around disciplinary action, a disciplinary sanction or an appeal are 
taken. In these cases should the officer’s representative be unavailable to attend 
we will postpone the Hearing for up to a week when the Hearing will go ahead 
regardless of the representative’s availability.

Document Pack Page 5



Informal Resolution

If possible, an informal resolution should be sought and the Council will pay full 
regard to the principles within the ACAS handbook. The advice of the Joint 
Secretaries may also be sought. Formal action should be a last resort.

Formal Procedure

Suspension

The decision to suspend the chief executive, S151 officer or monitoring officer 
must be considered carefully taking into account the nature of the allegations, 
the effect on the officer and potential reputational damage to the Council.
The Assistant Director HR/OD has delegated authority to suspend in relevant 
circumstances in conjunction with the Leader of the Council and relevant Cabinet 
Member. Suspension should be reviewed by the IDC after 2 months.

Investigating and Disciplinary Committee – initial meeting

As part of the procedure, an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee (IDC) is 
required to be set up.  This committee will be politically balanced and will consist 
of a panel of five members, including at least one cabinet member. Members 
appointed to the panel should have no prior knowledge or conflicts of interest in 
the case/officer involved.

Prior to the initial meeting, the Council should shortlist three people (or less if 
three are not available) from a list of independent investigators held by the Joint 
Secretaries to conduct an investigation should the IDC decide that this is the 
appropriate way forward. 

The IDC’s initial role will be to inform the officer of the allegations in writing, 
providing any evidence that might require investigation. The officer will be 
invited to put forward any written representations and evidence to the meeting 
(this includes any written evidence from witnesses they wish to be considered at 
this stage). The officer will also be invited to attend the meeting to make oral 
representations. If they do not attend their written representations will be taken 
into account.

At the meeting, the IDC will consider any evidence presented by the officer, 
either in writing or in person, and determine if it is appropriate to call the 
witnesses at this stage before any decision is taken. The IDC may decide:

 no further formal action is taken, or
 there is a case to answer and an investigation is required, or
 to consider other actions (for example mediation, use of a different 

procedure, mutual termination etc)

If the IDC decides that there is a case to answer they will appoint an 
independent investigator. 
They will also consider if it is appropriate to suspend the officer. If the officer has 
already been suspended under emergency powers, the IDC will review the 

Document Pack Page 6



decision to determine whether or not the suspension stands. Suspension will be 
further reviewed by the IDC after 2 months.

The officer will be informed of the decision in writing.

Investigation

The Joint Secretaries hold a list of independent investigators. Once the options 
of independent investigators from the list are determined suitable by the 
Council, the officer will be invited to select an investigator from the list (if no 
selection is made within 14 days of the names being supplied the Council should 
select an investigator from the list).
The role of the investigator will be to establish the facts and collate evidence. 
The investigation should remain confidential, impartial, and should be speedy 
and thorough.

The investigator will prepare a report to the IDC outlining:

 the facts of the case
 findings and evidence
 their opinion as to whether or not they believe that the evidence gathered 

supports the allegation and the need for disciplinary action to be taken
 their recommendations as to what disciplinary action they believe to be 

appropriate

IDC – Hearing

On receipt of the investigation report, the IDC will conduct a Hearing which will:

 consider the findings, report and recommendations of the independent 
investigator including any new material evidence material to the 
allegations

 give the officer the opportunity to state their case
 question any witnesses where relevant

The IDC may decide on the following outcomes:

1. No further action should be taken – the officer should be informed and 
appropriate communication prepared to ensure no damage to the officer’s 
reputation

2. The issue should be resolved informally or through another procedure
3. The case should be referred back to the investigator for further 

investigation – this should be only when it is absolutely necessary in order 
to made a decision (for example to investigate any new evidence)

4. To take action short of dismissal (ie to issue a disciplinary sanction) – the 
officer should be notified of this and given the right of appeal

5. To recommend to Council to dismiss the officer

Where the IDC proposes to recommend to dismiss the officer, the Leader and all 
members of the Cabinet should be informed and given the opportunity to object. 
This part of the process should be carried by the Assistant Director HROD in 

Document Pack Page 7



conjunction with Democratic Services and any objections from the Cabinet 
should be made through the Leader.
The IDC will then reconvene to consider any objections and reaffirm their 
proposed recommendations to dismiss. 

The IDC’s proposed recommendations to dismiss should then be put to an 
Independent Panel.

The IDC will reconvene once the report from the independent panel is received 
to consider the recommendation to dismiss. If the recommendations to dismiss 
do not change, the officer will be informed of the decision at this point and given 
the right to appeal. This will be to full Council.
Should the IDC decide not to dismiss, other options should be considered (see 
above IDC outcomes). 

Independent Panel

If a recommendation to dismiss is made by the IDC an Independent Panel (IP) 
will be established comprising of three independent panel members (or at least 
2) who are:

 an independent person appointed by the Council who is a local 
government elector in this borough

 an independent person appointed by the Council for the purpose of the 
Council members conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011

 an independent person appointed by another Council for the purpose of 
the Council members conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011

The IP will be held in accordance with the Council’s Hearing Procedure and will 
take place at least 20 working days before the meeting of the Council. The IP 
will offer advice, views or recommendations to the Council at which the 
recommendation for dismissal will be considered. It will:

 receive the IDC recommendations and reasons – presented by the Chair 
of the IDC

 receive the report from the independent investigator, who will be invited 
to the IP to provide clarification if required

 receive oral/written representations from the officer, who will be invited to 
attend 

 hear evidence from any witnesses
 ask questions of either party

The IP will consider all of the evidence and formulate any advice, views or 
recommendations it wishes to make to Council on the proposal to dismiss the 
officer. A report will be prepared for the IDC/Council. If they disagree with the 
IDC’s proposals to dismiss, the report should include a clear rationale of the 
reasons why.

Document Pack Page 8



Council 

Where there is a proposal to dismiss the Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer or 
Monitoring Officer, Council must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal 
is issued.

A special meeting of Council will be set up by Democratic Services and will take 
place at least 20 working days after the meeting of the Independent Panel.
Given the thoroughness and independence of the previous stages it will not be 
appropriate for Council to undertake a full re-hearing of the case and the 
meeting will review the case, the proposal to dismiss and any other 
evidence/representations.  This stage will also act as the officer’s appeal against 
the proposal to dismiss. In addition:

 the officer will attend and make representation first as this will effectively 
be their opportunity to appeal

 the Chair of the IDC will attend and present the proposal to 
dismiss/reasons

 the advice, views and recommendations of the Independent Panel will be 
taken into consideration

 the conclusions from the investigation will be considered

Council will have three options:

 to confirm the dismissal of the officer – this should be communicated to 
the officer as soon as possible

 to reject the proposal to dismiss the officer, ie no sanction – this should 
be communicated to the officer and communications prepared to ensure 
as far as possible there is no damage to their reputation

 Impose a lesser sanction or refer back to the IDC to determine the lesser 
sanction 

Appeals Committee

Appeal Hearings against disciplinary action (action short of dismissal) will be 
heard by an Appeals Committee which will be politically balanced, include at 
least one cabinet member and will comprise of five three elected members who 
were not members of the IDC. 

Its purpose is to hear the officer’s representation and review the case/decision 
taken by the IDC, IP and consider the investigation report along with any other 
evidence relating to the case. They will also conduct any further investigations 
necessary to enable them to reach a decision.

The Panel may decide:

 to confirm the sanction given 
 no sanction should be given – communications should be agreed with the 

officer to ensure as far as possible no damage to their reputation)
 a lesser sanction should be given

The decision of the Appeals Committee is final.

Document Pack Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Document Pack Page 11 Agenda Item 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Document Pack Page 59
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer
	Disciplinary Procedure for Head of Paid Service S151 and Monitoring Officers 040419

	5 Senior Management Capacity Report
	CFO JD and PS


